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	Defined terms and their sources were applicable. 


· “CEI” The Cleveland Electric Utility Company a subsidiary or First Energy Corporation

· “Commission” means and refers to the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio
· “Company” see CEI 

· “In Service” lines and equipment are considered In Service when connected to the system and intended to be capable of delivering energy or communication signals, regardless of whether electric loads or signaling apparatus are presently being served from such facilities. Source: C2 2017 NESC 

· “Meter” Meter is a device for accurately measuring the electric power and energy consumed by

a customer. The Company supplies, installs, and maintains the meter. Source: CEI Customer Guide for Electric Service Complainant Ex BA
· “Meter Box” The enclosure that houses the electric Meter.
· “National Fire Protection Association (NFPA):” The NFPA is a United States trade

association, albeit with some international members, that creates and maintains private,

copyrighted, standards and codes for usage and adoption by local governments (www.nfpa.org). Source: CEI Customer Guide for Electric Service Complainant Ex BA
· “National Electrical Code [NFPA 70] (NEC)”: The NEC is a set of national regulations that

govern the installation of electrical equipment located on the customer’s side of the point of

service. All references refer to the 2017 version of the NEC. Source: CEI Customer Guide for Electric Service Complainant Ex BA
· “National Electrical Safety Code [IEEE C2] (NESC)” The NESC is a set of national regulations

that govern the installation, operation, and maintenance of the electric supply and

communication lines. NESC applies to equipment located on the electric utility’s side of the

point of service. All references refer to the 2017 version of the NESC. Source: CEI Customer Guide for Electric Service Complainant Ex BA
· “Neutral Conductor” A system conductor other than a phase conductor that provides a return path for current to the source.  Source: C2 2017 NESC

· “Neutral Wire” See Neutral Conductor 

· “Out of Service” lines and equipment are considered to be Out of Service when disconnected from the system and not intended to be capable of delivering energy or communication signals.  Source: C2 2017 NESC
· “Property” means and refers to 12935 Rockhaven Road, Chesterland, Ohio 44026
· “Roote”, “Roote's”, “Complainant” are references to Michael S Roote, Complainant, and owner of the Property at 12935 Rockhaven Road in Chesterland Ohio.

· “Service Conductors” The conductors from the Service Point to the Service Disconnecting means

· “Service Drop”  A service drop is a Company-owned set of overhead conductors (including the

connectors) that extend from the last pole or other aerial support to the customer-owned service

entrance conductors at the building or other structure. Source: CEI Customer Guide for Electric Service Complainant Ex BA

· “Service Entry” The equipment -the mast or conduit, the Service Conductors, and the Meter Box or Base – that serve to bring electricity from the Service Drop to the structure or building.
· “Service Point” The point of connecting between the services of the serving utility and the premises wiring” Source  C2 2017 NESC 
1 Section : Safety

1.1 Unreasonable Service 
This Complaint is about safety. Did CEI provide unreasonable service by taking certain actions and not taking others, that put Roote's Property and person(s) at risk?  To prove that, Roote must show that -

1. CEI customers along Rockhaven Road lost power due to a heavy snow in the early morning of December 1,2020 when Primary wires were damaged by falling trees

2. Roote's Service Drop was pulled down and his Service Entry (Conduit) was damaged in a separate event later in the morning on December 1, 2020

3. Roote Notified CEI of Service Drop and damaged Service Entry (Conduit) on December 1, 2020


3.A Roote advised CEI they should not restore power to Roote's Property until repairs were 
made.  


3.B Roote requested CEI disconnect Roote's Service (Out of Service) and pull CEI's meter.

4. CEI restored power to Rockhaven Road and Roote's residence on December 3, 2020


4.A CEI never inspected Roote's damaged Service Drop and Service Entry prior to 
restoring power


4.B The work required to restore power to customers along Rockhaven Road placed CEI crews 
directly in front of the Roote Property on December 3, 2020 


5. CEI restoration of power to the customers along Rockhaven Road including Roote's put Roote's life and Property in danger as well as people coming onto Roote's Property.


5.A The incoming side Neutral Conductor was pulled from its connection. 
1.1.1 Footnote Legend
	Name X:A-B
	Transcript or Exhibit Name Where X is Page and A is beginning Line Number and B is ending Line Number, Inclusive 

	Name X:A-B, Y:C-D


	Multiple References in the same Transcript or Exhibit are separated by commas

	Name X:A-Y:B
	Begins Page X Line A and continues through Page Y line B, inclusive

	Name X:A-Y:B, Z:C-D
	Example of Multiple References in the same Transcript or Exhibit the first of which includes a range of pages 


1.2 Evidence
Looking at the record, here is the evidence to prove each one of the above facts.


1.1. CEI Answer to Complaint.

1.2 Complainant Ex. R Customer Contact history

1.3 Respondent Ex. 2 Direct Testimony of  Robert Kozak
 

1.4 Complainant Ex. AI Nancy Roote Notes

1.5 Complainant Ex. AN Complainant's call log response

1.6 Complainant Ex. X Order No. 20860805-6 Dec 1 2020, 15:29 Also Respondent Ex. 1.C

1.7 CEI Answer to Complaint

1.8 Roote Complaint

1.9 Transcript Michael Roote Direct Examination

2.1 Complainant Ex. AI Nancy Roote Notes

2.2 Complainant Ex. B Conduit Service Entry Damage

2.3 Complainant Ex. C Conduit Service Entry Damage

2.4 Complainant Ex. D Weather Head Entry Damage

2.5 Complainant Ex. E Low Wires Crossing Driveway

2.6 Complainant Ex. F Low Wires Crossing Driveway

2.7 Transcript Michael Roote Direct Examination

2.8 Transcript Jeffrey Roote Direct Examination by Mr. Roote

3.1 Complainant Ex. G Michael Roote's call to CEI December 1, 2020, 16:12

3.2 Complainant Ex. H Michael Roote's call to CEI December 1, 2020, 16:15

3.3 Complainant Ex. I Michael Roote's call to CEI December 1, 2020, 16:20

3.4 Complainant Ex. AI Nancy Roote Notes

3.5 Complainant Exhibit R Customer Contact history

3.6 CEI Answer to Complaint


3.A.1 Complainant Ex. I Michael Roote's call to CEI December 1, 2020, 16:20


3.A.2 Complainant Ex. R Customer Contact history


3.A.3 Complainant Ex. AN Complainant's call log response


3.B.1 Complainant Ex. I Michael Roote's call to CEI December 1, 2020, 16:20


3.B.2 Complainant Ex. R Customer Contact history


3.B.3 Complainant Ex. AN Complainant's call log response


3.B.4 Transcript Michael Roote Direct Examination 
 1st Advisement


3.B.5 Transcript Michael Roote Direct Examination 
 2nd Advisement


3.B.6 Transcript Michael Roote Direct Examination 
 3rd Advisement 


3.B.7 Transcript Michael Roote Direct Examination 
 4th Advisement

 
3.B.8 Transcript Bret Ingram Cross-Examination by Mr. Roote

4.1 Transcript Michael Roote Direct Examination 

4.2 Complainant Ex. X Order No. 20860805-6 Dec 1 2020, 15:29 Also Respondent Ex. 1.C

4.3 Respondent Ex 1 Direct testimony of Mr. Bret Ingram

4.4 Complainant Ex. AI Nancy Roote Notes

4.5 Transcript Jeffrey Roote Direct Examination by Mr. Roote

4.6 Complainant Ex. L Michael Roote's call to CEI December 4, 2020, 14:24

4.7 Respondent Ex. 2 Direct Testimony of Mr. Kozak
 

4.8 Complainant Ex. N Michael Roote's call to CEI December 8, 2020, 16:20

4.9 Complainant Ex. BH Direct testimony of Mr. Bret Ingram


4.A.1 Transcript Robert Kozak Direct Examination by Mr. Roote


4.A.2 Complainant Ex. AI Nancy Roote Notes


4.A.3 Transcript Robert Kozak Direct Examination by Mr. Roote


4.A.4 Transcript Bret Ingram Cross-Examination by Mr. Roote


4.A.5 Complainant Ex. AI Nancy Roote Notes


4.B.1 Transcript Bret Ingram Cross-Examination by Mr. Roote


4.B.2 Complainant Ex. BH Direct testimony of Mr. Bret Ingram


5.1 Transcript Bret Ingram Cross-Examination by Mr. Roote

5.2 Transcript Bret Ingram Cross-Examination by Mr. Roote 

5.3 Transcript Michael Roote Direct Testimony

5.4 Transcript Michael Roote Cross-Examination by Mr. Rogers


5.A.1 Transcript Michael Roote Direct Examination


5.A.2 Transcript Bret Ingram Cross-Examination by Mr. Roote

1.3 Conclusion
The evidence shows the answer is conclusively: YES. CEI put Roote's Property and person(s) at risk by their actions from December 1 through December 8 inclusive.
2 Section : Violations
In addition to proving the unreasonable service from CEI resulted in a dangerous safety situation, the Hearing also revealed five violations: instances where CEI violated its Tariff, Commission's Rules, Regulations or Orders as listed below.  

COMMISSION RULES


1.     XE "4901:1-10-09(B)(3)" 4901:1-10-09(B)(3) Automated phone answering system


2.     XE "4901:1-10-05(H)(2)" 4901:1-10-05(H)(2) Record Meter removal/installation



2.A No record Roote's meter was pulled or reinstalled



2.B Roote's meter was pulled and reinstalled by CEI

SAFETY RULES 


3.  XE "4901:1-10-06" 4901:1-10-06 “C2 – 2017 NESC”


3.A. NESC 420.A.1 “Employees shall carefully read and study the safety rules and may 


   be called upon at any time to show their knowledge of the rules.”



3.B. NESC 214.A.5. When In Service, “Lines and equipment with reported conditions or 

   


defects that would reasonably be expected to endanger human life 




or property shall be promptly corrected, disconnected or isolated.” 
2.1 Evidence
1.1 Complainant Ex. G Michael Roote's call to CEI December 1, 2020, 1612

1.2 Complainant Ex. J Michael Roote's call to CEI December 4, 2020 1406

1.3 Complainant Ex. M Michael Roote's call to CEI December 8, 2020 616

1.4 Complainant Ex. O Michael Roote's call to CEI December 8, 2020 1531


2.A.1 Respondent Ex. 1 Direct Testimony of Bret Ingram


2.A.2 Transcript Bret Ingram Cross-Examination by Mr. Roote


2.A.3 Complainant Ex AA Order Number 20886086-1


2.A.4 Complainant Ex AB Order Number 20886658-1

2.A.5 Complainant Ex AG Power Out Log for Order 20886086-1


2.B.1 Transcript Jeffrey Roote Direct Examination by Mr. Roote


2.B.2 Transcript Michael Roote Direct Examination


3.A.1 Transcript Tyler Henry Direct Examination by Mr. Roote


3.A.2 Transcript Bret Ingram Cross-Examination by Mr. Roote


3.A.3 Transcript Bret Ingram Recross Examination by Mr. Roote


3.B.1 Refer to  Unreasonable Service
2.2 Conclusion
The evidence proves multiple instances where CEI violated its Tariff, Commission's Rules, Regulations or Orders
3 Section : The Need for Experts
Allstate v CEI
 is an instructive case in multiple ways when compared and contrasted to the case at hand. First there are the similarities of facts between Roote and Allstate.  Here is the relevant portion of the summary of facts provided by CEI in its brief
 supplied to the Supreme Court. 
On July 20, 2003, between the time of 10:30 a.m. and 11:00 a.m., Ms. Harris and her twenty-nine year old daughter, Lisa Little, walked through Ms. Harris' backyard to look at the garden. They observed that a fairly large limb had fallen from Ms. Harris' tree onto "some wires." ...the weight of the limb on the wires caused Ms. Harris' electrical service mast, which was attached to the back of the dwelling, to pull away from the dwelling. Ms. Harris and Ms. Little then went into the home and Ms. Little telephoned CEI. Ms. Little spoke to a CEI customer service representative named Pamela Warford. 
Ms. Little reported that a tree limb had fallen on some wires and that the service mast was separated from the home. Ms. Warford asked a series of questions to determine whether CEI's wires or equipment were compromised or malfunctioning. She then entered the call as a tree limb on a wire with the power on.  In accordance with CEI's call center procedures and guidelines, this call was categorized as a lower priority call because it did not involve a life-threatening, emergency situation (such as a wire down call) and it was not an outage. After speaking with Ms. Warford, Ms. Little then had her mom call back to see how the telephone prompts work.  Ms. Harris went through the prompts but did not speak to a live person. After contacting CEI, Ms. Little went home and Ms. Harris cooked dinner and took a nap. Ms. Harris awoke from her nap at 5:00 p.m. and still had power on in her home.  She made another call to CEI concerning the tree limb on the wire. Approximately ten minutes later, she heard a noise in her backyard and saw wires on the ground sparking. ... Ms. Harris then saw fire in her home and dialed 911.  The fire department arrived shortly thereafter. 
In addition, both CEI and Allstate provided expert testimony
 as to the cause of the fire reprinted here.  
Experts opined at trial within a reasonable degree of scientific certainty that the fire was caused by the weight of the tree limb pulling the service mast away from the home. Specifically, the electrical wire's insulation was abraded by friction until the hot conductor was allowed to contact the Meter Box, causing a fire around the electrical panels mounted on the north wall of the basement of Ms. Harris's house.
 
From what was presented at the Michael S Roote v CEI Hearing, here is a summary of the relevant facts.
On December 1 2020 during a snow fall, houses on Roote's street lost power at approximately 3:00 AM. Mr. Roote called to report the outage shortly thereafter. Later that morning at approximately 10:00 AM, a tree branch fell on the CEI Service Drop coming to the house.  The weight of the falling branch and snow, pulled the conduit that brings power to the house off the side of the house.  The wires were still connected but hanging only a few feet above Mr. Roote's driveway. 
Mr. Roote called CEI again to let them know that now Mr. Roote had wires down and a damaged conduit in addition to the previous loss of power. During the call, Mr. Roote advised four different times that CEI should not restore power to Roote's street until they disconnected his house from the Service.
On Thursday December 3, CEI restored power to Roote's street. CEI did this without having inspected the damage or isolating the Roote Property. Mr. Roote called CEI again acknowledging the power had been restored and requesting CEI disconnect Service to avoid the risk of burning Roote's house down and so that he could make repairs to the conduit and any hidden damage to the wiring.  CEI called back on December 7, 2020 three days later to say nothing could be scheduled until December 23, 2020. Early the next day December 8, 2020 Mr. Roote contacted CEI yet again and insisted CEI send a crew immediately to disconnect Service.  When CEI arrived and pulled the Electric Meter it revealed that the incoming side Neutral Conductor had been pulled out of its terminal inside the Meter Box.  Mr. Roote reconnected the wire and completed other repairs and power was restored on December 8, 2020. 

In addition, both Roote and CEI provided expert testimony
 as to the danger of fire.
Experts opined at the Hearing that damage to the Service Entry, particularly the disconnected wire inside the Meter Box presented a real danger for starting a fire that existed from December 3 when CEI  restored power, until December 8, when CEI finally disconnected power.   
The Statements of Facts in Allstate v CEI and Roote v CEI compare very closely.  One significant difference is in Allstate v CEI they are negligent in failing to remove power in a timely fashion, and in Roote v CEI they provide unreasonable service by restoring power to a damaged Service Entry. 

Now moving on to the Second instructive issue resulting from the Supreme Court ruling in Allstate v CEI regarding Jurisdiction. It provides many answers to the case at hand, and raises additional questions as well.  In Allstate v CEI the court ruled that the Court of Common Pleas had jurisdiction because the administrative skills of the Commission were not required to discern the issue in that case
. 

But in the case at hand, the Commission agreed to hold a hearing regarding the subject complaint which is a clear indication of their belief that they had Jurisdiction. But are they correct in their belief?  Does Roote pass the two part test established by the Ohio Supreme Court in Allstate v CEI? Let's look at the test. 

"First, is PUCO's administrative expertise required to resolve the issue in dispute? Second, does the act complained of constitute a practice normally authorized by the utility?"
 The answer to each question, must be yes.

In Allstate v CEI, the Court summarized the arguments for and against PUCO Jurisdiction this way. 

{¶ 10} In the present case, both parties make strong arguments for why they should prevail. CEI argues that if it was negligent, it was negligent regarding its own policies and procedures relating to service calls, and that determinations regarding a public utility's policies and procedures are within the exclusive jurisdiction of PUCO. Allstate argues that CEI had a duty to exercise reasonable care for the safety of Harris's property, that CEI breached that duty, and that determinations regarding negligence are within the jurisdiction of the court of common pleas. We concede that the distinction between the two arguments is a fine one. 

In the above, the Court succinctly states the two parties arguments, conceding “that the distinction between the two arguments is a fine one”
. Roote v CEI offers an historic opportunity to grind the decision even finer.  

In Allstate the Court states the question to be put to the test as “[t]he ultimate question in this case is whether the delay between CEI's receipt of the emergency calls and arrival at the Harris residence was reasonable.”
  Predictably, given the nearly identical circumstances, the Roote case question to test would be very similar. “The ultimate question is this case is whether the decision to restore power to the customers along Rockhaven Road was reasonable without first taking Roote's Property Out of Service.“ 

Given the uncannily similar circumstances it seems obvious the case belongs in Common Pleas as the Supreme Court ruled in Allstate.

But Roote presents a unique twist. His initial demand, ultimately his singular demand, asks nothing of monetary value. In fact, it demands nothing from CEI at all. From the Complaint-  
“Remedy
1. Complainant demands, that as authorized under O.R.C.  XE "4905.06" 4905.06 and  XE "4905.37" 4905.37 and reference  XE "4905.26" 4905.26, that after conducting a thorough investigation, PUCO change IC rules and implement corrective action to require inspections of property that have reported damage prior to restoring service to such properties. Such orders of corrective action shall be made public and the public instructed to report any
future unsafe acts of a similar nature to the responsible person or persons at the PUCO. And that PUCO impose any other rules or procedures as PUCO determines necessary to ensure repair crews are notified of reports by users of property damage before power is restored.
Specific authority comes from O.R.C  XE "4905.06" 4905.06 which states 'The power to inspect includes the power to prescribe any rule or order that the Commission finds necessary for protection of the public safety.' “

While the facts may scream Court of Common Pleas, the Remedy shouts PUCO while leaving the Court of Common Pleas argument moot. Why? No one but the PUCO has the unique administrative skills to deliver the required Remedy. But far beyond the skills required is that the remedy demands the unique powers granted to the PUCO by the Ohio Legislature under O.R.C. Title  XE "4905" 4905 General Powers

Clearly Roote v CEI meets the second test as CEI defended their actions during the hearing by  introducing the testimony of Bret Ingram, where he states that CEI did what they always do regarding low hanging Service Drops.
 CEI considers such wires a low risk, non-emergency condition
. But CEI offered no policy regarding the danger of having power connected to a damaged Service Drop that is still connected to a Customer's extensively damaged Service Entry except to say these issues themselves don't necessarily create a safety issue
. Ultimately, Allstate proved it to be dangerous in a dramatic way as CEI's negligence resulted in a devastating fire. The Jury in Allstate agreed finding CEI 100% liable for the damages.
  And Roote v CEI reiterated the point by proving having power connected to a damaged Service Entry is always dangerous. Not changing the procedures means sooner or later, an event like happened in Allstate will happen again.  In fact it could be much worse. If Ms. Harris had not woken up from her nap for another ten minutes, she may well have lost her life.  To prevent that requires changes to these policies. Defining those changes will require both the administrative skills of the PUCO and their use of the powers granted to the PUCO by the Ohio Legislature. That puts Roote into the exclusive domain of the PUCO. And it requires an opinion in favor of Roote, in this case, if there is any hope of fixing this problem and preventing an otherwise inevitable future tragedy. 

3.1 Other Experts

The Hearing showed the need for the expertise and the powers of the PUCO to adjudicate this case and then implement the needed Remedy.  It is clear how necessary that will be in designing and implementing the corrective actions  Likewise the PUCO has unique access to another expertise available to them to assist in understanding the technical issues in the case. I do not presume to know what technical expertise resides within the PUCO but it is clear that highly qualified help is available through O.R.C.  XE "4901.21" 4901.21 “Employment of Ohio state university engineers and experts.”  In Roote v CEI three experts offered testimony into the Record.  Each having their own areas of expertise. But from the Record it is clear no one should assume someone's expertise based on their positions held or work history. By way of example, Bret Ingram testified that his background included four years as Manager of Operations Line Services where “I oversee all of the distribution line crews” (65 people)
. This is in addition to six years as Manager of the Process and Performance Group for First Energy and going back a little further, two years as Manager Meter Services for Penelec.
  All of which are First Energy companies whose primary business is delivering electricity to their customers.  Combined with his education, there is no doubt Bret Ingram is an expert in many areas. However, the Record clearly shows it would be wrong to assume based on his work history and current responsibilities that he is knowledgeable about electricity or First Energy business practices. First, he has an MBA, but doesn't know what a partner is in a business context
. Yet CEI partners with independent contractors to provide services such as repairing customer's services.
 He also clearly demonstrated during his examination
, he does not understand one of the most important principles of electricity - that of induction. It is surprising for three reasons.  Transformers are one of the most abundant pieces of equipment needed to distribute electricity. It doesn't require any expert knowledge to recognize that fact. They are everywhere along the distribution line. Then there is the Electric Meter itself. It's entire principle of operation is based on induction. While these are surprising, they are not alarming. I am surprised everyday by what I don't know and it certainly was clear during the Hearing that I am not trained to be a lawyer. But not knowing that induction creates one of the largest hazards the people who report to him need to avoid is worrisome, and, to me, troubling. If you work in Tyler Henry's role, induction is a bigger risk to your person than arc flash. The NESC dedicates hundreds of pages to it. 

3.1.1 Conclusion-

The point of bringing this up is not to denigrate Bret Ingram.  As I mentioned, my lack of knowledge in many areas was fully on display during the Hearing. But it is important to understand if there is any doubt in discerning the credibility of testimony, Ohio State is easily within reach. 
4 Section : Alternatives

4.1 CEI Alternatives

4.1.1 The Electrician

It can be anticipated that CEI will offer many Alternatives as to what Roote could have done.  Bret Ingram's direct testimony
 as well as Mr. Rogers cross of Roote makes one CEI strategy quite evident.  In short, CEI will argue Roote was responsible for his own problem because The Service Entry(Conduit), the Wires in the Service Entry, the Meter Box, the connections inside the Meter Box – even the tree branch  - are his responsibility.  If Roote was concerned about his damaged Service Entry, he could have called a licensed electrician who could have taken his Property Out of Service, gotten permission from CEI to pull his meter, done the repairs to his Service Entry, and reconnected his Neutral Conductor in the Meter Box. 

This goes to Roote's state of mind.  To any CEI customer's state of mind.  

When power goes out, CEI customers are conditioned to call their provider. CEI prominently displays it's 1-888-LIGHTSS number on its Website
. CEI includes their number on all customer's bills. They even produced refrigerator magnets with the LIGHTSS number.  And it isn't just outages that customers are encouraged to report.  CEI makes a special effort to direct callers to the LIGHTSS number if they need to report a hazardous situation with one specific example being “Trees that have fallen on power lines” .
  No where does First Energy, CEI, or The Illuminating Company say anything about calling your favorite electrician. 

Is it any wonder then, that Roote or any other customer's first thought is to call the LIGHTSS out number or contact CEI in some other way to report outages or safety concerns with their electric service? 

It makes perfect sense in so many other ways. CEI makes every effort to let their customers know they are concerned for the customers safety. Through their website 
and their ad campaigns

, and from the Hearing it is clear customers reporting outages is helpful to CEI in dealing with outages.
 There is no evidence CEI gets any reports from any companies providing electricians to customers seeking help with their outages. 

In addition, most customers are aware the PUCO regulates CEI and exists to ensure the utilities provide safe and the lowest cost electrical service. Customer's are encouraged to believe if they have trouble getting service from CEI, the PUCO is there to assist. No one regulates electricians.

In the specific case at hand, the evidence shows on his second phone call of December 1, 2020
, Roote understood CEI was uniquely positioned to protect his Property. With the wide spread power outage along Rockhaven Road, all that was necessary to protect his Property was for CEI to disconnect his house, out at the street, from the primary wire needing repair. Exactly what Tyler Henry chose to do and finally did on December 8.
 This is a service only a utility is authorized to perform as it involves Primary wires not Service Drops. 

And unlike most customer's Roote had no need for an electrician had CEI done what they promised to do and isolated his Property. Once isolated. Roote was qualified
 and able to perform the other repairs to his conduit and wiring.   

If CEI had isolated Roote's service, re-energizing the Primary service to Rockhaven Road could not have caused any safety issue at Roote's.  This solution had the added benefit of keeping CEI's Service Drop completely safe as opposed to an electrician disconnecting the Service Drop from the Customer's Service Entry.  The electrician solution would have made the potentially damaged
 Service Drop hot when CEI restored power to Rockhaven Road.   

All of this information naturally leads customers to conclude CEI and the utilities are the experts you need to contact first regarding any disruption of power or damage to power lines. Customers are encouraged to put their trust in CEI as the experts in power - the Company best equipped to deal with outages, and an organization concerned with the safety of its customers and employees.

The record shows, until CEI erred in restoring power to his residence without isolating his Property, that Roote was one of those customers.  Under cross-examination by CEI about the call Roote made to CEI on December 4, 2020, it is clear Roote was subsequently disillusioned by what CEI had done
. 

4.1.1.1 Conclusion-

CEI positions themselves as their customers' first choice for dealing with their power outage issues. In fact, CEI was the resource that would have been best able to render Roote's Property safe. Roote's decision to work with his provider, rather than an unknown electrician, was the most rational choice.

4.1.2 Roote did nothing to prevent contact with his low hanging wires

CEI will argue that Roote could have protected his Property from the danger his low hanging wire presented to people by barricading his driveway.  And that he admitted doing nothing to prevent anyone from coming up his driveway
.    

First, an aside, with all the sidestepping, refusal to answer questions, and lack of forthcomingness demonstrated by the three witnesses employed by CEI, this is the only time the Attorney-Examiner interjected himself to insist a witness answer a question
. 

Roote had done everything he could to advise CEI not to restore power without isolating his Property
. If  CEI hadn't restored power before isolating Roote's house, there never would have been a danger of energized low hanging wires. CEI confirmed that they would disconnect power to the house before restoring power to the street
 but they did not.

CEI had a legal obligation to blockade or isolate Roote's low hanging wires before restoring the power to Rockhaven Road. By not doing so they were violating the NESC
.  And again, CEI was notified of the low hanging wires on December 4, 2020 and again violated the NESC by not promptly correcting, disconnecting or isolating the damaged wires.  

4.1.2.1 Conclusion-

The danger of energized low hanging wires would never have occurred if CEI had heeded Roote's warnings, done what they promised, or followed the NESC and corrected, disconnected or isolated the damaged wires before restoring power to Rockhaven Road.

4.1.3 Roote being allowed to Testify as an Expert was prejudicial

CEI will argue that Roote being allowed to offer expert testimony was prejudicial to CEI. They will argue Roote never worked for a Utility, Roote never was a Professional Engineer, Roote never disclosed his experience when asked under Discovery.  

Roote was asked by CEI about his work history and experience in CEI's Second Set of Request for Discovery.
  Let's look at the relevant questions and answers.

INTERROGATORY NO. 4: Describe any employment You have had in any industry dealing with wires containing voltage of at least 120 volts. Your response should include the dates of Your employment, the name of Your employer, Your job description, and how Your job dealt with wires carrying at least 120 volts.
ANSWER: 
3/1972 -12/1990 Wood-Compton Company, later incorporated as Comptrol, Inc. 
Positions Held

Inside Sales

Sales Engineer

Product Specialist
Application Engineer

Chief Application Engineer
Sales Manager

V.P of Marketing

Responsibilities Related to wires carrying at least 120V

Assisting customers with selecting Industrial Electrical Control Products
Conceiving, proposing, designing, building, installing, servicing and starting up Industrial Machine Control and Automation Systems.

Supervising and managing Sales Engineers, Electrical Engineers, Controls Engineers and related disciplines engaged the (sic) like activities.
1991 – 1995 Pascom Computing 
Positions Held

Owner

Responsibilities Related to wires carrying at least 120V

Conceiving, proposing, designing, building, installing, starting up and servicing of Motor Driven Linear Slide retrofits for Automatic Screw Machines.

1995-2000 Tri-Vision International

General Manager

Responsibilities Related to wires carrying at least 120V

Conceiving, proposing, designing, building, installing, starting up and servicing of Electrical Control Systems for Automatic Bar Loading Machines

Supervising and managing Service Engineers and Electrical Panel Assembly personnel 
2001-2016 Rockwell Automation, Inc.
Senior Engineer 
Project Manager

Nuclear Risk Review Technical Adviser 
Responsibilities Related to wires carrying at least 120V
Programming, specifying, designing, engineering, repairing, installing and starting-up of industrial control and automation systems and the supervising and management of engineers, and service personnel involved in the same.   

The references to companies could have easily been researched as Comptrol
, Inc., and Rockwell Automation
, Inc maintain large foot prints on the Internet. 

Clearly CEI's counsel arguing
 that Roote never disclosed his work history is incorrect. 

Roote was also asked if he was ever employed by a Utility.
INTERROGATORY NO. 3: Describe any employment You have had in the electric utility industry. Your response should include the dates of Your employment, the name of Your employer, and Your job description.
ANSWER:

None 

There were no other interrogatories related to Roote's experience. 

Roote testified to his experience in more detail during the Hearing, but clearly he disclosed his history. 

CEI not recognizing the close relationship between Roote's Control System experience and the Utility industry is the result of CEI's lack of understanding, not any lack of disclosure by Roote. The relevance of Roote's experience should be clear. The electricity provided by CEI on CEI's Service Drop, is the same electricity that enters Roote's home and every other Residential customer. It is the same electricity Roote worked with for forty years. The characteristics, the parameters, the way it behaves – the dangers – are exactly the same because it is the same electricity.

Of course there are differences in the NESC (Utilities) and NEC (everywhere else) guides. This has to do with the extremely high voltages the Utilities, typically 345,000 volts, use in order to deliver electricity over long distances. The NESC also recognizes the Emergency nature of the Utility business which places unique demands on the workers in regards to training and safety. But for comparison, the NESC is 405 pages. The NEC is 908.

The term Professional Engineer means the Engineer has obtained a license. Because of the nature of the work, most companies do not require the Engineers they employ to be licensed. Roote held various engineering titles throughout his career, but he has never been a Professional Engineer. Jeffery Roote worked as a Service Engineer or Sr. Service Engineer for most of his 45 years in the workforce
.  Jeffery has never been a Professional Engineer. 

4.1.3.1 Conclusion

Roote being allowed to testify as an Expert is not prejudicial as CEI failed to depose Roote and Roote reported his extensive work history and responsibilities under Discovery.  

4.1.4 Its Impossible

Again it can be seen from CEI's cross-examination of  Roote that they will claim expecting the utility to inspect each customers Service Drop would go against what is established law. Under Ohio law, a public utility is required to exercise the highest degree of care consistent with the practical operation of its business in the construction, maintenance and inspection of its equipment.
 CEI will attempt to ignore the first part and focus only on the emphasized portion.  However the method suggested by CEI during their cross of Roote for calculating the time required for inspecting or isolating customers who report damaged service entries is based on a number of false premises.
  

First let's examine CEI's question to Roote. “How many – how long would it take to disconnect the power of 170,000 people reporting damage to their service drop?”

As Roote had already pointed out
 the premise that there would ever be 170,000 people without power as a result of damage to their Service Drop is ludicrous. 

First both CEI experts Bret Ingram and Robert Kozak testified that damage to a customer's Service Drop would only effect one customer
. To have 170,000 Service Drops damaged would require 170,000 unique incidences similar to the tree branch falling that pulled down Roote's service simultaneously occurring.  It is rational to believe in coincidences, but not that one. Roote under cross-examination pointed out this faulty logic
. Bret Ingram testified he knew of only one report of damage to Service Drops
 during the December 1, 2020 storm event. Yet another false premise is that CEI's calculation assumes only one service person is making all the disconnections. Bret Ingram stated he alone had sixty five people working for him
. And finally, the CEI illogical scenario doesn't take into account that whatever small number of service drops were damaged at the same time a major outrage occurred, they would likely be in the same area.  For example, in Roote's case, the Primary causing the wider spread outage along Rockhaven Road was directly in front of Roote's Property - the same Property that had the damaged Service Drop. (A believable coincidence) 

4.1.4.1 Conclusion-

The claim of CEI that addressing those people who call in damage to their Service Entry would be inconsistent “with the practical operation of its business in the construction, maintenance and inspection of its equipment” is simply frivolous. 
4.1.5 Affirmative Defenses

Affirmative Defenses are an alternative to defending against Roote's accusations of Unreasonable Service as measured by the unsafe practices. One such defense CEI will argue is that their actions were justified, even if they were unsafe because CEI “followed its protocols”
.  But Roote proved the protocols are  unsafe
 and in addition, the evidence shows CEI did not follow its protocols as defined by the CEI experts.  

CEI provided no evidence of what those protocols are other than the testimony of their experts. They introduced no documents showing their processes and procedures that put these “protocols” in writing.  Are none of these protocols written down? 

Roote believed the CEI procedures must be written down. Otherwise the protocols could be known to the employees only by “tribal knowledge” - information passed down from employee to employee by tradition and word of mouth.  Under Discovery, Roote requested these protocols in the form of the processes and procedures that CEI follows in delivering their services
, specifically those related to restoring customers' power. But CEI claimed after a five month search that they could not “find any.”  Yet the questions
 asked by CEI counsel of their own experts make references to those policies? The same policies that CEI counsel could not find when they were requested under discovery.  So the protocols, meaning CEI's “code of correct conduct” we are expected to believe they followed, are not written down. They didn't refer to any of those policies and procedures, they were not produced during discovery, hence they must not exist. Yet CEI counsel, the CEI expert witnesses, the CEI shift leader, all seem to know what they are. 

So we must conclude from the evidence, that CEI protocols only exist in the minds of people like Bret Ingram and Robert Kozak and - Tyler Henry.  Particularly risky since Tyler Henry testified he couldn't remember what he had for breakfast yesterday
. But the evidence shows, that even measured against that standard, CEI did not follow them. Bret Ingram testifies when CEI removes Meters they make a record of it even if the Meter doesn't leave the premises.
 Tyler Henry testifies they only make a record if the Meter is leaving the premises.
  Bret Ingram testifies that damaged Service Drops including connections would be inspected before being put back In Service
 but confirmed CEI has no evidence any inspection occurred.
 Bret Ingram also testifies that it is CEI policy to install a Meter Seal after reinstalling a Meter
. But no Meter Seal was installed.
  Robert Kozak testifies when hazard crews inspect the damage, they make the situation safe
.  But the Record shows, Roote's unsafe damage was not made safe. Robert Kozak testifies that if the hazard crew had identified Roote's Service Drop to be a hazard they would have reported it
 – neglecting to mention what he would later testify to – Roote's Service Drop was never inspected by any CEI person prior to the DCC giving permission to restore power.
 

4.1.5.1 Conclusion-

So what can we conclude from all of this?  First, that CEI has no written policies and procedures regarding power outages. Second, if they do and they are what the three CEI witnesses claim they are, then those standard practices were not followed in Roote's case. 

4.1.6 Out Of Scope

CEI will claim that the CEI Outage Reporting phone line violations can not be brought up because Counsel was never given notice. CEI is wrong on this point. In Complainant's response to CEI Discovery he listed  XE "4901:1-10-09" 4901:1-10-09
.  That would include  XE "4901:1-10-09(b)(3)" 4901:1-10-09(b)(3) “When an electric utility utilizes a menu-driven, automated, interactive answering system (referred to as the system), the initial recorded message presented by the system to the caller shall only identify the company and the general options available to the caller, including the option of being transferred to a live attendant. At any time during the call, the caller shall be transferred to a live attendant if the caller fails to interact with the system for a period of ten seconds following any prompt.” 

CEI will also claim phone service is beyond to scope of the hearing. But the scope of the Hearing is defined in the 6/24/2021 Order
 which includes regulations violated within the scope of this complaint. From Roote's testimony, the difficulty of reaching a live person, was a challenge he faced in getting awareness of his situation to CEI. Instead of being presented the option of reaching a live attendant as required, during each call to CEI Roote was confronted with the “menu maze”
 offered by CEI. In particular, the “Fuck You”
 call was on December 1, 2020 at 3:48 pm in the afternoon when Roote first tried to reach CEI to advise them he had a damaged Service Entry and needed a disconnect and Meter pull. This was after being awakened by a power outage at 3:40 AM, enduring 12 hours without power – no heat, running water, refrigeration, or cooking- having his Service Drop pulled down in a separate incident, cutting down, cutting up, and clearing from the driveway perhaps a dozen trees, digging out by hand one half of his 300' driveway, and emptying his refrigerator and packing up all the food to load in the car.  

The Rule requires a live attendant be available to ensure customers calling can describe unique situations that may include important details about downed wires or other potential hazards or needs. 

4.1.6.1 Conclusion-
CEI delivered unreasonable service because it was unsafe. CEI's violation of  XE "4901:1-10-09(b)(3)" 4901:1-10-09(b)(3) was a contributing factor to the unsafe service delivered by CEI to Roote.
4.1.7 Admissions and Discovery

Admissions is part of Discovery, and CEI argued at the Hearing, that Discovery was “closed”. But under Ohio Administrative Rule  XE "4901-1-22(E)" 4901-1-22(E) “If any party refuses to admit the truth of a matter which is subsequently proved at the hearing, and the Commission determines that the party's refusal to admit the truth of the matter was not justified, the Commission may impose a portion of the costs of the proceeding upon such party, in accordance with the second division of section  4903.24
of the Revised Code.” The hearing proved that CEI committed exactly this offense in regards to Roote's “Second” phone call as well as others. 

4.1.7.1 Roote's “Second” phone call

As part of admissions, Roote submitted a question regarding his Second Phone call.
 

Admission Number 3 “Admit Complainant, during his second call made to CEI on or about December 1, 2020, reported damage to his Service Entry conduit.”

In the relevant part of CEI's Reply “Without waiving its objections, denied. By way of further
answer, in the recording of Complainant’s second call dated December 1, 2020, at 16:12 Complainant only reported a downed wire, and did not report damage to his Service Entry conduit.”  

At the Hearing the following points were proven.

Roote's “Second Phone Call” of December 1,2021 consisted of Three recordings

Ex G. Ex. H and Ex. I.  

During both the Second (H)
 and Third (I)
 parts of the call, Roote described damage to his conduit. 

At the end of the First (G) and Second (H) recordings it was obvious that one call was continuing first from (G)
 >(H) then from (H)
>(I)

Since CEI included a reference to Ex. (G) “at 16:12” they clearly understood the reference to Roote's second call on December 1, 2020. 

I tried to bring this up at both the pre-hearing Conference and the Hearing but was ignored both times.
4.1.7.2 Conclusion- 
CEI's answer to Roote's Admission No. 3 was proven at the Hearing to be wrong. I contend that CEI's answers to Roote's request for admissions that Admissions, 6,7,8,9,10,13,15 were also proven to be incorrectly answered. As Ohio Administrative Rule  XE "4901-1-22(E)" 4901-1-22(E) only requires one violation be proved I leave it to the Commission. 
4.2 Commission Alternatives

4.2.1 The Review Committee

Christina Cassady of the PUCO was quick to point out that once my preliminary Complaint had been completed and put in the Record, it was subject to review
.....  

4.2.2 The Rules Review Process

And finally, let's consider the alternatives that the Commission will suggest. I have reason to believe that the argument will come down to the concept that the Remedy requested in the Complaint is beyond the scope of  XE "4905.26" 4905.26. Moreover, that the PUCO provides Roote a more appropriate avenue for seeking his Remedy in that the PUCO reviews the Administrative Rules regarding a utility's allowed standard practices. At least every five years, they will get around to each of the rules that begins the process of actually getting a rule changed. A process called JCARR
, the Joint Committee on Agency Rule Review. The PUCO invites the Public to add their input into those reviews. Therefore the Complaint is dismissed and Roote directed he can advise himself of the schedule and request to comment at the meeting and suggest that the rules he is concerned about be amended.

This is a wholly unsatisfactory alternative. The event leading to the case decided in Allstate v CEI
 occurred in 2005. The Supreme Court ruling was fourteen years ago. The rules that allowed CEI to ignore a damaged Service Entry that resulted in burning down a property and narrowly averting a loss of life, are still in place. Roote v CEI demonstrates that CEI is still following the same practices, still denying the same dangers, and proceeding to recklessly permit power to be needlessly and negligently remain connected or restored to homes through damaged connections. And the PUCO has buried its collective head in the sand and done nothing to prevent it from happening again. So much for JCARR
. 

And CEI argues shamelessly that low hanging Service Drops are not a danger, while at the same time reminding customers that downed or low hanging wires are a danger
. Based on Tyler Henry's testimony, CEI's training has convinced him that having his truck come in contact with a damaged Service Drop wire is no more concerning than driving over an extension cord
. At the same time this is the advice CEI gives to their customers when their vehicle may be engaged with a wire. 

If there is imminent danger from fire or other hazards, jump
out and away from the vehicle without touching the vehicle and
the ground at the same time. Be sure to land with both feet
together and shuffle without lifting either foot off the ground
until you are at least 30 feet away from the vehicle.

Tyler Henry refused to answer and the Attorney-Examiner refused to let me press for an answer as to what he should do
. CEI expects and helps their customers to understand what to do, but their employees can't be expected to know? As Shift Leader for CEI, Tyler Henry better be aware that if a damaged low hanging Service Drop comes in contact with his truck and he touches the truck while standing on the ground or in a puddle, he will be electrocuted.  

So while JCARR may be an attractive answer because it dispenses with Roote's case, it amounts to only kicking the can down the road.

A Remedy suggested by Roote is available to the Commission. Under  XE "4901:1-23" 4901:1-23 the Commission has the authority to take immediate action to protect life and property. Since this case involves a safety violation, it falls withing the Scope of  XE "4901:1-23-01" 4901:1-23-01.  As a Complaint has been filed, a notice of non-compliance can be issued along with corrective actions per  XE "4901:1-23-02" 4901:1-23-02.  Under  XE "4901:1-23-04" 4901:1-23-04 these actions can commence immediately.  As Roote points out in his Remedy,  XE "4905.06" 4905.06 provides the specific authority “The power to inspect includes the power to prescribe any rule or order that the Commission finds necessary for protection of the public safety.” 

4.2.2.1 Conclusion

The Remedy in the Compliant is available. Other remedies, such as JCARR, have proven ineffective.    Roote respectfully urges the Attorney-Examiner to choose wisely. 

5 SECTION : Judicial Error and Prejudicial Rulings

5.1 Not Admitting PUCO Investigation:Complainant EX. A, AU,AP and AQ
On December 7, 2020, Roote reached out to his State Representative the Honorable  Diane V Grendell for help with the ongoing safety issue that existed at his home.
 

Timeline-

December 8, 2020, the next day Representative Grendell reaches
 out to the PUCO forwarding them Roote's email, and requesting help.  

December 8, 2020, at 9:39 am, the PUCO opens Case Number: 00650391
 by including the Roote email to Representative Grendell that had been forwarded to the PUCO by Representative Grendell. Tyler Henry, at the insistence of Roote during his phone call
, will arrive at the Roote home to disconnect power, sixteen minutes later.
 Another believable coincidence.

December 8, 2020, at 10:08 am, Christina Cassady, Lead Customer Service Representative for the PUCO emails First Energy with an urgent request for answers. At this moment Roote and Tyler Henry are discussing the options for disconnecting power.

December 8, 2020, 1:43 pm, Bobbie Jo Lafontaine, Asst Cust Svcs Compl Spec for First Energy answers Christina Cassady's email. By this time, Tyler Henry has left. Jeffrey Roote has arrived and he and Michael Roote are busy making the repairs to the Service Entry.
December 16, 2020 Ms. Cassady sends Roote an email in which she discloses the resolution of the case.
  The significance of the email is that “CEI’s response was that its crews found wires down in front of the service address and assumed that was the cause of the outage.”
 (emphasis added)
I go through this timeline because the basis for your ruling not to admit this evidence was three fold.  One, it was all “after the fact”
 But as I argued at the time
, on that basis, all of the evidence I gathered through discovery would be not admissible since Discovery didn't begin until months later in March 2021 and continuing through the summer. The PUCO investigation, as far as it goes, was started and completed on March 8, before Roote's power had even been restored
.  And what of CEI's evidence?  Bret Ingram and Robert. Kozak testified to the events and their “investigation” didn't begin until perhaps March when Complainant first requested Discovery and didn't end until they completed producing their direct testimony. 

Secondly, your ruling also sided with CEI regarding relevancy.  But the Hearing was about unreasonable service as well as what CEI's Counsel describes when it asks the experts, “did CEI violate its Tariff, its Procedures, Commission Rules, or any Statute?”
 Ms. Cassady's very first question “why the service was restored if the service entrance was pulled away from the house”
  goes exactly to   inquiring about CEI procedures when dealing with a customer's report of damaged Service Entry.

Third, is the issue of hearsay. The importance of introducing the documents and recordings was to present them as statements of fact. The truthfulness of  Ms. Bobbie Jo Lafontaine of First Energy answers provided to Ms. Cassady's questions, was not at issue. Those answers were not responsive to the questions asked and they added or subtracted nothing regarding the Record. It was merely that she made the statements which closed out the investigation that was of importance in this case. Had the investigation continued, Roote need not of ever filed his Formal Complaint. Similarly, in the recording of Roote's phone call
 the truthfulness of what Ms. Cassady or Roote said was not the issue, but the recording was an authentic record of what occurred and on that basis should have been allowed to be entered into evidence. That phone call demonstrates clearly why Roote arrived at the Remedy that is part of his Complaint and why including that Remedy in the Ruling is critical. 

5.1.1 Conclusion-

On the basis of statements of fact the only reason to question the emails and phone calls is on the basis of authenticity. Certainly they are authentic.
It was a Judicial error not to allow the PUCO public records into evidence.   
5.2 Refusing to Admit NFPA
 Study

The links in the footnote take you directly to the NFPA website and their Home Electrical Fires Research Paper and the supporting Tables. The authenticity of these Documents is a non-issue. The study is particularly important because it differentiates home fires created by ELECTRICAL DISTRABUTION AND LIGHTING – Utilities -and FIRES INVOLVING ELECTRICAL FAILURE OR MALFUNCTION – Homes.  

The NFPA is the leading Expert on Fire Prevention and the safe use of electricity. The standards they produce are cited by all levels of Government as well as many private entities. They own the National Electrical Code (NEC). They are the most referenced standard for fire prevention and the safe use of electricity across the United States. The CEI Guide to Consumers Ex. BA makes 23 References to the NEC and five references to the NFPA.  The CEI tariff makes a reference to the NEC. The NESC, the safety standard the Commission has selected to impose on the Utilities has 29 references to the NEC and incorporates four NEC rules into the NESC. The NESC also makes 17 references to NFPA and seven sections are incorporated by reference into the NESC itself.  

The NFPA study provides ample evidence that damaged Service Drops and Service Entry are a significant cause of home fires. 
5.2.1 Conclusion
There is no justification for not allowing Ex. P into evidence. Its exclusion was prejudicial to the Complainant. 
5.3 Denial of Witnesses – Motion for Mistrial

  XE "4905.26" 4905.26
 is a complex rule for the most part but in one portion it is very clear. “The parties to the complaint shall be entitled to be heard, represented by counsel, and to have process to enforce the attendance of witnesses.”   
5.3.1 History and Timeline

7/6/21 Roote delivers formal request for Discovery. Interrogatory number 5
 specifically asks for names and addresses of CEI personal who came to his Property between December 1 and December 8.  

7/26/21 CEI requests a 10 day extension. Roote grants the extension contingent on getting a comprehensive response.

8/5/21 CEI Delivers response
. It doesn't include either names or addresses of the people who came to Roote Property on 12/1/2020 and 12/8/2020

8/7/2021 Roote calls CEI from his vacation in Utah to express how disappointed he is with the  response

8/30/2021 Roote contacts CEI to schedule a conference call to discuss completing Discovery

9/3/2021 Roote has conference call about discovery with Mr. Rogers. They negotiate a simple four questions for CEI to respond to.

9/6/2021 Rogers submits another non-response

9/7/2021 Roote emails Attorney-Examiner with concerns about lack of  response by CEI to his requests for Discovery

9/14/2021 Roote requests Continuance to Complete discovery

9/21/2021 Continuance is granted by Attorney-Examiner with expert testimony due by 11/30/2021, pre-hearing conference on 12/7/2021, and Hearing on 12/14/2021

11/02/2021 Roote files Notice of Intent to File Motion to Compel Discovery

11/15/2021 Roote files Motion to Compel Discovery

11/24/2021 Commission denies Motion to Compel

11/29/2021 Rogers files Notice of Counsel of Record

12/1/2021 Roote calls Mr. Rogers again to request Robert Allen address he originally requested on 7/6/2021

12/1/2021 Roote emails AE with Motion requesting expedited Discovery

12/2/2021 Attorney-Examiner emails Roote to advise Motion requesting expedited Discovery was not properly delivered.

12/7/2021 At the Pre-hearing Conference, as directed by  XE "4901-1-22" 4901-1-22 Roote raises discovery again and how he was denied his witness. AE ignores the request for him to get involved mostly based on it being “too late”.

12/20/2021 Roote offers Motion for Mistrial because Roote was denied due process to subpoena the witness. AE denies his motion.
  

The History shows Roote made every reasonable effort to get the address of Mr. Robert L. Allen beginning on 7/6/2021. Roote called, emailed and had conference calls in an effort to acquire Discovery. He requested help from the Attorney-Examiner in September. CEI ignored the Attorney Examiner's encouragement to cooperate. Roote then filed a Motion to Compel which the Attorney-Examiner denied. Finally Roote offered a Motion for a mistrail. In his Ruling the Attorney-Examiner cites the hail Mary attempt Roote made to secure a Subpoena. Roote sought out another way to gain compliance because he had just gotten off another phone call with Mr. Rogers giving the usual “I have to check with my client. I'll get back to you.”  Roote does not contest that the rejection of that request was proper.  As the Attorney-Examiner noted in his email rejecting the request it was improperly delivered. But the attempt to secure a subpoena should never have been necessary. Roote's request for an address required no extraordinary effort. Surely CEI maintains a record of their employees addresses. Roote never received Tyler Henry's address either. He was able to execute that subpoena because Tyler Henry's address could be discovered through an extensive internet search.  

One of the issues discussed during pretrial was scope for the Hearing. An important element of testing the reasonableness of CEI Service is whether they follow their standard practices. When I attempted to question Tyler Henry about CEI's practices when they install a Meter, Mr. Rogers objected 

When Roote attempted to ask Tyler Henry questions about the practices CEI follows when installing a Meter, Mr. Rogers objected on the basis Tyler Henry was not the service person who reinstalled Roote's Meter
. Ultimately, the Attorney-Examiner ruled Roote would be allowed to ask a few questions of Tyler Henry limited to the practices CEI follows when they install a Meter
.  

The Error was that simply allowing Tyler Henry to answer a few questions limited to the practices CEI follows when installing Meters is not an adequate Remedy for the denial of due process done to Roote by depriving him of a witness. Robert Allen did not simply install the Meter on his service call later on in the afternoon of December 8, 2020.  There were many areas he could have testified to regarding which services he delivered and the manner in which he delivered them.  Here are just a few areas that were contested or left ambiguous as a result of not hearing from Robert Allen.  

· Did Robert Allen drive up Roote's driveway and then back out? 

· Did Robert Allen inspect the work done by Roote and his brother Jeffrey?

· Did Robert Allen inspect the Service Drop as suggested should be done by Bret Ingram
?

· Was Robert Allen trained on the NESC?

· Did Robert Allen install the Meter
?

· Did Robert Allen install a Meter Seal?

· Did Robert Allen understand he was required to install a Meter Seal?

· Why wasn't a Meter Seal installed?

· Did Robert Allen believe he was required to report installing the Meter if he did install it
?

· Does Robert Allen know whether Roote had a Smart Meter?

· Did Robert Allen inspect the Service Drop wire looking for damaged insulation?

· Did Robert Allen inspect the terminations on the other end of the Service Drop, at the CEI pole?

· Did Robert Allen inspect the splices between the Service Drop and Roote's Service Entry wires as Bret Ingram Testified should be done?

· Was Robert Allen trained in how a fuse works?

· Did Robert Allen check to make sure Roote's power was back on before he left?

· Did Robert Allen observe any evidence of Arc Flash in Roote's Meter Box?

CEI counsel thought examination for the presence of Arc Flash an important enough issue that he questioned Bret Ingram about it during his Redirect Examination
   

When asked during Recross Examination by Roote “Did anyone from CEI inspect my Service Entrance. my Meter Box for the presence or absence of arc flash?”  The witness replied “I can't answer that on behalf of the trouble-man, no.”
  True indeed.   

CEI counsel's affirmative defense is that CEI did nothing unsafe because at all times it acted within its usual and customary procedures. Robert Allen's testimony could have shown that in Roote's case, CEI did not follow their protocol, as, for one example, the Testimony of Bret Ingram, the practice of installing a Meter Seal
.  We witnessed that same issue when Tyler Henry testified he is not required to report removing a Meter if it doesn't leave the premises
 but according to his manager he needs to record the removal of a Meter whether it leaves the premises
 or not.  

Roote's principle argument is CEI's usual and customary treatment of a Service Drop in not adequate to ensure safety.  The Commission has defined the scope of the hearing to include violations of Tariff,  Rules, and Regulations but  XE "4905.26" 4905.26 stated scope includes unreasonable service. Certainly unsafe services are within the definition of unreasonable. The Company in arguing against the motion to dismiss, claims nothing Robert Allen could testify to is relevant
 but on the other hand submits expert testimony referring to the work Robert Allen performed on December 8, 2020.
   

As Roote argued at the time, by not supplying Robert Allen's address Roote was denied the opportunity to examine him and the Commission was denied the relevant testimony he could have provided. 
5.3.2 Conclusion-
Would hearing what Robert Allen had to say change the opinion of the Commission? He was, after all, one of only two CEI personnel who actually came to Roote's Property. Not knowing what he might have testified to and what follow on questions may have resulted, no one can honestly answer that question. And that is why the  Motion for a mistrial should have been granted.   
5.4 Insisting Kozak be Examined Out of Order Was Unfair to Roote

Timeline for portion of hearing conducted on 12/14/2021

10:02 AM Hearing is convened
 : 

· Brief comments and introduction of parties
, 4 pages of transcript, 

· Tyler Henry is sworn in and Roote begins the examination.  65 pages of transcript 

· Mr. Rogers conducts a brief cross-examination. 7 pages of transcript

· Attorney-Examiner reviews and enters exhibits
 2 pages of transcript

12:14 PM Attorney-Examiner notes the time

· Brief Off the Record discussion 

12:16 PM Hearing breaks for 40 minutes for lunch

12:56 PM Hearing reconvenes

· Brief discussion to prepare for Roote Direct Testimony 1 page of transcript

· Roote Direct Testimony commences 87 pages

3:25 PM Roote Direct Testimony ends 

· Hearing begins a 10 Minute break

3:35 PM Roote Cross-Examination by Mr. Rogers begins

· Roote Cross-Examination 43 pages

4:40 PM Roote Cross-Examination by Mr. Rogers ends
 
· AE grants CEI five minute recess request

4:45 PM Hearing reconvenes

· Attorney-Examiner reviews exhibits 3 pages

· Brief off the Record discussion about schedule Attorney-Examiner notes we are nearing 5:00 PM

4:57 PM Jeffrey Roote is sworn in 

· Roote conducts direct examination of Jeffrey Roote 12 pages

· Mr. Rogers conducts cross-examination of Jeffrey Roote ½ page

5:14 PM Jeffrey Roote examination ends

· Attorney-Examiner reviews exhibits 1 page

· During Off the Record discussion Attorney-Examiner schedules at 5:20 a ten minute break. This will be all the time Roote is allowed to prepare his examination of Robert Kozak

5:30 PM Hearing Reconvenes with the swearing in of Robert Kozak

· Direct Examination of Robert Kozak by Mr. Rogers 2 pages

· Cross-Examination of Robert Kozak by Mr. Roote 20 pages

6:13 PM Robert Kozak examination ends. 

· Attorney-Examiner reviews exhibits - 1 page

· Brief off the Record discussion

· On the record to go over schedule

6:16 PM Hearing Ends

The Hearing began at 10:02 AM and Robert Kozak was sworn in at 5:30 PM.  Subtracting the one total hour the Hearing was in recess, means the Hearing had gone on 6H:30M up to the time Robert Kozak was sworn in.  Of those 6 hours and 30 minutes, Roote had spent-

	Hr:Mn
	Activity

	1:10
	Examining Tyler Henry

	2:49
	Providing Direct Testimony

	1:05
	Being Cross-Examined by Mr. Rogers

	0:17
	Examining Jeffrey Roote

	6:21
	Total Time Roote Conducts or is Being Examined


These times are admittedly estimated based on the Percentage Transcript pages containing the “Activity” versus the total number of pages multiplied by the time period including the activity.  But even allowing for some error, it is safe to say that of the 6:30 the Hearing was in session, Roote was engaged in one or another of the Intense Activities shown for at least 6 hours.  

Timeline for mid to late afternoon and early evening of 12/14/2021-

	 Time H:M

PM
	Status
	Comment 
	12/14/21 Transcript Ref
	Result

	3:10
	Roote Near end of testimony
	Roote Requests break, “I am a little tired right now”
	165:4-15
	Ignored

	3:15
	Roote concluding testimony
	Roote “need a few minutes to collect myself”
	167:20-25
	Ignored

	3:25
	Roote Concludes Testimony
	Without prompting, Attorney-Examiner immediately orders ten minute recess to allow Rogers to prepare cross-examination
	172:21-173:3
	Ten Minute break for Rogers

	4:40
	Rogers Near end of Roote Cross-Examination
	Rogers requests a break “to make sure I covered everything I need to cover”
	216:9-13
	Rogers's Request granted

	4:50
	Evidence Review
	Attorney-Examiner “Long Day”
	219:20-21
	

	4:52
	Company Witness Availability
	Attorney-Examiner “We need to push through”
	1st Off-the-Record
	

	5:18 
	Company Witness and Recorder Availability
	Roote “Time for a break” 
	2nd Off-the-Record
	Ignored

	5:20 
	Company Witness and Recorder Availability
	Attorney-Examiner “At the very least, we will have Mr. Kozak go this evening”
	2nd Off-the-Record
	

	5:22
	Company Witness and Recorder Availability
	Attorney-Examiner “Let me call around about a court reporter” 
	2nd Off-the-Record
	AE grants himself Ten minute Break

	5:23 
	Company Witness and Recorder Availability
	Attorney-Examiner “At the very least, we will have Mr. Kozak go this evening”
	2nd Off-the-Record Con't
	

	5:34
	Company Witness  Availability
	Roote “I'll do my best....anticipating this would run over, I really prepared for their first witness, it's going to be a little rough” 


	2nd Off-the-Record Continued
	Attorney-Examiner “We need to try and get through it” 

	5:47
	Roote Attempting Cross of Kozak
	Roote “I'm struggling a little bit because of the lack of preparation” 
	244:15-17
	

	6:10
	Roote Attempting Cross of Kozak
	Roote “It's getting late” 
	250:1-2
	


The Attorney-Examiner was aware that Roote had never been a party to a Hearing before. The Attorney-Examiner understood Roote had zero experience conducting the Examination of a witness, and that Roote had prepared his examination based on the agreed upon order of witnesses. Robert Kozak was supposed to be last. And Roote explained during the Off-the-Record conversation that he had not finished his preparation for Robert Kozak because he had spent the time preparing for Bret Ingram who was to proceed Robert Kozak.  

Additional points are -

· Neither witness offered compelling reasons as to why they couldn't accommodate another time

· Robert Kozak was available the following day. 
· The lack of a Court Recorder being available should not have prejudiced Roote
· It was never explained why holding the Hearing over until after the holidays, if necessary, would have been unfair to either party.   

· Roote had expressed several times how tired he was
 

· The Attorney-Examiner showed much more concern for Tyler Henry during his examination 

· If the Commission doesn't want party's acting Pro Se then they should change the rules

· This was clearly in the category of making some allowances for citizens representing themselves

· Had nothing to do with providing a Pro Se party legal advice

· The Record shows Roote's examination of Robert Kozak was damaged by the last minute decision to change the order of appearance of the witnesses
.  

5.4.1 Conclusion- 

Examining witnesses in an agreed to order, is a matter of fairness. Insisting on changing that order, was prejudicial to Michael Roote.   

6 Credibility 

Michael Roote was able to take his Complaint and swear to it during his testimony.
 The  complaint was not sworn to when Roote wrote it in December of 2020. It was an opinion. One man's view of the events surrounding an incident. But Michael Roote was able to “stand behind the truthfulness
” of his Complaint and read it into the Record as his Testimony. After one year of reviewing all the evidence, thinking back over all the events, not knowing what the Company might present at the Hearing, Roote was able to stand behind it because his Complaint was the truth. 

6.1 Innuendo 

No evidence was ever entered to dispute a single statement made in the Complaint. But CEI attempted to dispute three claims made in the Complaint. Without evidence, they resorted to innuendo to try and make their arguments.

6.1.1 The Meter

Who pulled the Meter, is irrelevant to the case accept as an issue of credibility. CEI attempted to imply Roote violated the Tariff by pulling his own Meter
. Their expert Bret Ingram, tried to make the case that Roote couldn't be correct about CEI pulling the Meter, because if a Company employee had pulled the Meter, there would have been a record made
. And the Company introduced the record
 where that information would have been recorded and it was not recorded. 

But that strategy was foiled because in spite of the Company's attempts to hide the witness
, Roote was able to subpoena the Company's employee, Tyler Henry, the person who put the observations into the service record document. Under examination by Roote, Tyler Henry testified that employees are not required to record pulling a Meter if it was not leaving the Premises.
 When asked by Roote specifically whether he pulled the Meter, Tyler Henry testified he didn't remember
. 

Given the lack of any other evidence, in spite of  the failed attempts to prove Roote wrong, Roote proved to be the only credible witness providing testimony
 about the removal of his Meter. 

6.1.2 Neutral Conductor 

Next the Company offered testimony that the Roote claims that the Neutral Conductor had been pulled from its connection were not true. Like the Meter, this is all done by innuendo because CEI has no evidence to dispute Roote's Claim.  “I have no evidence, other than Mr. Roote's assertions, that the neutral was disconnected”
. But here are the ways that CEI tries to imply the Neutral Wire was not pulled out.

Bret Ingram implies the connections must all be good to Roote's house because “Here, both the primary disconnect and the secondary fuse leading directly to Mr. Roote's residence held. This indicated there was no further  damage or fault on that line to be addressed. Because the fuse was still closed, the connection between the house and the secondary were intact and not damaged.”
 but under cross-examination Bret Ingram admits that a disconnected Neutral Conductor would not necessarily cause a fuse to blow.
 

Bret Ingram implies that the Neutral Conductor was not pulled out because “The Company's records show that Mr. Roote never reported an issue with his Neutral Wire at his Meter base in his customer service calls”
. But under cross-examination Bret Ingram admits, that until the Meter was pulled by Tyler Henry, no one could have known the Neutral Conductor was pulled out
.  And the Meter wasn't pulled
  until the mid-morning of December 8, 2020 after Roote had made all of his calls to CEI in which he spoke to any live person.

Bret Ingram implies the Neutral Wire could not have been pulled because “There are no reports of an issue with the Neutral Wire to his Meter base in any of the contemporaneous reports from CEI employees.
” But the only CEI employees to come onto Roote's Property were Tyler Henry and Robert Allen.  In addition, during cross-examination Bret Ingram testified that the Neutral Wire would not have been visible
 until Tyler Henry pulled the Meter. 

Bret Ingram implies the Neutral Wire was not pulled out because “His reports to customer service specifically noted that the Meter base was not damaged. This would include the connections as well.
” But during cross-examination Bret Ingram admits that Roote could not have known of the disconnected wire until after December 4, 2020 phone call
 with CEI representative and after the December 7, 2020 phone call
 when Roote spoke with CEI about what repairs were needed to be made to his Service Entry.
 

In answer to the question “Who is responsible for the connection between the Service Mast and the Electric Box?
” Bret Ingram implies the Neutral Wire being pulled out of the connector was Roote's responsibility “The point of attachment is at the Weather head. Any disconnect would be his responsibility.
” But the evidence is clear that the pulling out of the Neutral Wire was a result of the snow storm bringing down a branch onto CEI's Service Drop.
 
Without evidence, CEI is reduced to making innuendos about the disconnected Neutral Conductor, but in each case, under cross-examination their claims are proven to be false.
6.1.3 Damaged Service Drops
Next CEI offers testimony that Roote's claim that the damaged Service Drop being hazardous was not true. But again, they must resort to innuendo because you cannot prove that a damaged wire that is still In Service is not dangerous. 
Bret Ingram implies that Roote's Service Drop was not hazardous because “had the hazard crew identified Mr. Roote's Service Drop to be hazardous, it would have reported the condition on its report.”
 But under cross-examination, Bret Ingram admitted Hazard crews never inspected Roote's Service Drop.
 Robert Kozak on Cross-Examination also admits Hazard crews never inspected Roote's Service Drop

Robert Kozak in response to the following question “Did CEI investigate Mr. Roote's Report of a wire down?”  He begins his answer with “Yes.
”,  implying Roote's report of wires down was inspected by the Hazard crew. But Robert Kozak testified under cross-examination that Hazard crews never inspected Roote's Property.
 

Robert Kozak in response to the following Question “Did the Hazard crew note anything about a wire being down on Mr. Roote's Property? Answers “No”
 implying hazard crews had been on Roote's Property, but again, he testified under cross-examination that Hazard crews never inspected Roote's Property.
 The Record is clear, until December 8, 2020 CEI employees were never on Roote's Property, but on Rockhaven Road in front of  Roote's Property
. Roote's Service Drop is at the top of Roote's driveway, approximately 300 feet
 from the front of Roote's Property. 
Robert Kozak in response to the following Question “If the Hazard crew had identified Mr. Roote's Service Drop to be a Hazard, would they have reported it?”
 Answers “Yes” implying Hazard crews had been on Roote's Property but yet again, Robert Kozak testified under cross-examination that hazard crews never inspected Roote's Property because they found the Primary wire down in front of Roote's Property.

Robert Kozak in response to the following Question “Based upon CEI policies, would the Hazard investigator have left Mr. Roote's Property if he believed there was a dangerous condition on Mr. Roote's Property?
 Answers “No, he would not have left before making the situation safe.” But once again, Robert Kozak testified under cross-examination that Hazard crews never inspected Roote's Property.

Robert Kozak in response to the question “Is a low hanging Service Drop an issue that needs immediate attention?” answers “Low hanging wires are not deemed to be a condition that needs immediate attention, unlike wires on the ground”.  This implies Roote's wires were not damaged and ignores that the Service Drop was still connected to a damaged Service Entry. 
Without evidence CEI is reduced to making innuendos that a Damaged low hanging Service Drop is not dangerous, but in each case, under cross-examination, their claims are proven to be false. 

6.2 CEI's Credibility Problem

The fact First Energy, the Corporation that owns CEI is an admitted criminal enterprise
 is the proverbial “Elephant in the room.” But the culture of a company is both a reflection of its leadership and a result of that leadership. At First Energy that means people who are willing to engage in a criminal conspiracy, ended up in the top positions at the Corporation. And it means that the culture of the Company was unable to stop it because the people who worked with them, who had to know, said nothing.

So why don't the parties involved want to recognize it? For CEI it is obvious. For the Commission could it be because First Energy's criminal culture engulfed the PUCO when the Chairman of the Commission accepted a $4.3 million dollar bribe to assist First Energy in getting HB6 passed
? And because the people at the PUCO who had to know, said nothing?.  

7 Conclusion-  

Roote proved he received unreasonable service from CEI because the service was unsafe. Roote proved CEI violated multiple Commission rules and regulations. Roote proved, if its procedures are what its employees describe them to be, that CEI didn't follow them. Roote demonstrated the need for experts. Roote showed judicial errors and that he was treated with prejudice. Roote displayed he was the most forthright of the witnesses who testified. 

These are all important and relevant issues – to those of us involved in this case.  

But to the Public, what matters is their safety. The Commission is unique in that it is the only institution that has the Jurisdiction, the Administrative skills and the Power to protect the utilities' customers. Unless the Attorney-Examiner orders the Commission to change the rules, the Electric Utilities will continue to deny that damaged Service Drops, especially those connected to damaged Service Entries, are a danger, and the safety of the public will still be at risk. And the Mission of the Commission will remain unfulfilled.  
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